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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Pilla House, which is considered the most elaborate and best 
constructed house built in Eudora, is a two and one-half story irregularly 
shaped structure with a full basement. The Victorian-style mansion sits 
on high ground overlooking the town square to the west. It is located in a 
residential area about one block north of the town's business district. It 
measures nearly 50 feet long and a dominant tower over the west entrance 
reaches three full stories above the ground.

The exterior walls are built of wood frame covered with narrow 
horizontal clapboards. The building rests on a stone foundation which 
encloses the basement. Covering the walls of the entrance tower are wood 
shingles with angled corners, which give a diamond-like pattern to the 
walls. The gable ends, which are separated from the walls below, are 
treated in a similar manner.

The roof form is a steeply pitched gable with intersecting gables on 
the north, west and south facades. The gables are accentuated by lace-like 
barge boards and squared cornices. The tower roof, which originally was 
pyramidal, is now flat. The roof overhangs the walls and is supported by 
evenly spaced wooden brackets around the perimeter. A large porch 
beginning at the front entry wraps around the west and south sides and has 
a shingled sloping roof. Small gables in the porch roof mark entrances on 
the west and south sides. Ornamental wood columns with carved brackets 
support the porch roof. Windows on all floors are simple rectangles of 
the double-hung type. Stained glass was originally used in the front door.

On the interior the original hardwood floors are still in good 
condition, but the present owner has covered them with linoleum. (The 
health of the present occupants did not permit them to maintain the wood 
floors as they wished, so the linoleum, which can easily be removed, was 
installed.) The dining room and the parlor have corner fireplaces with 
frames and hearths of Italian marble in flowered patterns.

Except for the removal of the tower's pyramidal roof and the window 
shutters, the Pilla house has changed very little in exterior appearance. 
The interior likewise has not been greatly altered. The original stained 
woodwork is still in place and presents a very charming appearance. The 
original privy with its decorative top still stands behind the house.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Charles Pilla house wa& erected in 1854 at a time when the 
German-born merchant was mayor of Eudora. Born in Bavaria in 1830, 
Pilla came to the United States in 1849 and to Eudora in 1865, where 
he joined his brother Frederick who had opened a small store three 
years earlier. After Frederick's death in 1871, Charles expanded 
the business until it was the largest general merchandise store in the 
community. It handled everything from household goods to agricultural 
implements and, later, automobiles.

In addition to his mercantile interests, he was involved in many 
other business activities. He helped organize the Eudora State Bank 
in 1892 and served as its president until his death in 1916. He was 
a partner in the brick manufacturing firm of Pilla and Statler, and an 
investor in other Eudora and area enterprises, and the owner of a number 
of farms. He served the community as postmaster (1871-1885), mayor, 
councilman ,and school board director. .^

The construction of his large, impressive Victorian mansion began 
in early March, 1894, and the Eudora News of May 31, 1894, announced, 
"Mayor Pilla's new residence is progressing rapidly, under the super­ 
vision of Mr. Nadelhoffer of Lawrence. When completed it will probably 
be the largest and handsomest residence house in the township. It will 
cost $10,000 or more when completed." (William Nadelhoffer was the 
prominent Lawrence builder who later supervised the construction of 
Green Hall at the University of Kansas campus in 1905. Green Hall has 
previously been nominated to the Register.) The lumber used in the 
house was cut from timber on the various farms Pilla owned and planed 
at a Lawrence mill.

Work on the house continued through the summer and on October 4, 
the newspaper noted that the residence had received its first coat of 
paint and would probably be ready for occupancy by November 1. The 
Pilla family occupied the house until 1963 when an 86-year-old daughter 
was removed to a rest home.

Charles Pilla was for 50 years a respected businessman in Eudora, 
one who allowed customers to pay off their charges at his store with 
produce such as eggs and butter. Having experienced poverty himself, 
he helped many poor German emigrants get their start in the Eudora area. 
He was a generous contributor to local charities and a leader in 
projects promoting and improving his community. Few, if any other 
individuals, had as much influence on the growth and prosperity of

Eudora as Charles
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8. The Pilla house is an outstanding example of Victorian residential 
architecture as constructed in a small eastern Kansas community. It has 
been one of the landmark buildings of Eudora since 1894.

9.

Portrait and Biographical Record of Leavenworth, Douglas and Franklin 
Counties (Chicago: Chapman Publishing Co., 1899), pp. 253,254.

Tonganoxie Mirror, August 16, 1973.
Wilson, Hill P., Eminent Men of Kansas (Topeka: Hall Lithographical Co., 

1901), pp. 303-305.


